

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect



REVIEW ARTICLE

Smoking in inflammatory bowel disease: Impact on disease course and insights into the aetiology of its effect



Gareth C. Parkes^{a,*}, Kevin Whelan^b, James O. Lindsay^{a,c}

Received 3 December 2013; received in revised form 29 January 2014; accepted 6 February 2014

KEYWORDS

Crohn's disease; Ulcerative colitis; Smoking; Microbiota

Abstract

The chronic intestinal inflammation that characterises Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis arises from a complex interplay between host genotype, the immune system, and the intestinal microbiota. In addition, environmental factors such as smoking impact on disease onset and progression. Individuals who smoke are more likely to develop Crohn's disease, and smoking is associated with recurrence after surgery and a poor response to medical therapy. Conversely, smoking appears protective against ulcerative colitis and smokers are less likely to require colectomy. The mechanism by which smoking exerts its impact on disease and the rational for the dichotomous effect in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis is not clear. Recent evidence suggests that smoking induces alterations to both the innate and acquired immune system. In addition, smoking is associated with a distinct alteration in the intestinal microbiota both in patients with active Crohn's disease and healthy subjects.

© 2014 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation.

Contents

1.	Introduction	718
2.	Smoking and ulcerative colitis	718
	2.1. Smoking cessation in ulcerative colitis	

E-mail addresses: gareth.parkes@bartshealth.nhs.uk (G.C. Parkes), kevin.whelan@kcl.ac.uk (K. Whelan), james.lindsay@bartshealth.nhs.uk (J.O. Lindsay).

a Digestive Disease Clinical Academic Unit, Barts Health NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom

^b King's College London, School of Medicine, Diabetes and Nutritional Sciences Division, London, United Kingdom

^c Centre for Digestive Diseases, Blizard Institute of Cell and Molecular Science, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom

^{*} Corresponding author.

2.2. Nicotine replacement in UC	719	
3. Smoking and Crohn's disease	719	
3.1. Smoking cessation in Crohn's disease	720	
4. Passive smoking and IBD	720	
5. Gender, IBD and smoking	720	
6. Putative mechanisms for the role of smoking in IBD		
6.1. Cigarette smoke	720	
6.2. Smoking and the gastrointestinal microbiota	721	
6.3. Smoking and intestinal permeability		
6.4. Smoking and gastrointestinal immune system	721	
6.5. Smoking and epigenetics		
7. Conclusion	723	
Conflict of interest		
Acknowledgements		
References		

1. Introduction

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) occurs when there is an abnormal immune response to the host microbiota in genetically susceptible individuals. 1 Genome wide association studies (GWAS) have enhanced our understanding of the genetic susceptibility to IBD and highlighted the role of specific pathways such as the IL-23/bacterial sensing and autophagy to disease pathogenesis.² Many of the risk alleles for Crohn's disease (CD) appear to be involved in bacterial sensing at a mucosal level such as CARD15 gene which codes for the pathogen recognition receptor NOD2.3,4 However, the currently identified susceptibility genes only account for a fraction of disease risk which highlights the importance of environmental factors in the onset and progression of IBD.⁵ Epidemiological studies have suggested a role for an urban environment, the oral contraceptive pill, appendectomy and in particular tobacco smoke which has a protective effect in ulcerative colitis (UC) and yet exacerbates CD.

Despite recent advances in our understanding of the aetiology of IBD in areas such as autophagy,² the gastrointestinal (GI) microbiota,⁹ the innate immune system¹⁰ and T-cell regulation,¹¹ the impact of environmental factors such as smoking on these remains opaque. The aim of this article is to review the evidence that smoking alters inflammatory bowel disease severity and also to examine recent data on the effect of smoking on the host immune system and microbiota in an attempt to better understand its pathological role.

2. Smoking and ulcerative colitis

Smoking has been shown to protect against the development of UC and, in those with established disease, smoking results in a less severe course. The evidence for a protective effect of smoking in patients with UC is well established. A 1981 questionnaire survey of 230 patients with UC,192 with CD and 230 age and gender matched controls found that whereas 42% of patients with CD and 44% of controls smoked, only 8% of patients with UC were current smokers (P < 0.001). 12 A higher proportion of UC patients were ex-smokers than patients with CD or controls (44% vs. 27%

vs. 20% P < 0.001) and the majority (87%) of those who had given up, did so prior to the onset of their GI symptoms. A recent cohort study from Hungary examined 1420 patients with IBD including 914 patients with UC and 506 with CD and found the prevalence of smoking to be 14.9% and 47.0% respectively compared to a prevalence of 36% in the general adult population. 13 Meta-analysis has confirmed that current smoking has a protective effect in UC, the most recent of which has demonstrated that smokers have an odds ratio (OR) of developing UC of 0.58; (95% confidence interval (CI), 0.45–0.75) compared to non-smokers. 14,15

A ten-year cohort study of 556 patients with UC analysed differences in disease course between smokers and non-smokers. 16 The study found a reduction in both oral corticosteroid use (52% vs. 63% P = 0.05) and actuarial colectomy rates (32% vs. 42% P = 0.04) in the smokers with UC compared to non-smokers with UC. It also found that in those patients with limited disease at entry to the cohort, progression to pancolitis was reduced in the smoking vs. non-smoking populations (14% vs. 26% respectively; P = 0.04).

In contrast, smoking did not impact upon response to thiopurine or disease progression in the 60 patients with steroid dependant UC included in a recent Spanish study. 17 Interestingly the same study used multivariate analysis to examine tolerance to thiopurines in all patients and found that smoking significantly increased the risk of thiopurine discontinuation because of side effects (OR 0.36, 95% CI 0.14–0.93, P = 0.036). There is scarce data demonstrating the effects of smoking status on response to biological therapy in UC. In one small study of 47 patients treated with open label infliximab for UC, multivariate analysis did not demonstrate that smoking status affected the outcome. 18

2.1. Smoking cessation in ulcerative colitis

Several studies have addressed whether smoking cessation has a negative impact on UC disease course. Analysis from the Nurses Health Study, a cohort of greater than 200,000 women over a 30 year period found that the hazard ratio (HR) for developing UC in the 2–5 year period following smoking cessation was 3.06 (95% CI 2.00–4.67).¹⁹ A cohort study of 32 patients with UC who quit smoking, compared them to age and gender matched smokers and non smokers

with UC with a mean follow-up of 9 years prior and 7 years post cessation of smoking. When comparing the time periods before and after smoking cessation, patients who smoked had fewer years with active disease (P < 0.01), hospitalizations (P < 0.05), and medical therapy (steroids; P < 0.05, immunomodulatory therapy; P < 0.05). Use of immunomodulators was greater in the non-smoking cohort and those who had quit compared to those who continued to smoke (P < 0.01), however there were no differences in the colectomy rates between the three groups.

2.2. Nicotine replacement in UC

There have been a number of studies examining the role of nicotine replacement in the induction of remission in patients (both ex-smokers and non-smokers) with UC. $^{21-24}$ A meta-analysis of these trials demonstrated that transdermal nicotine replacement was superior to placebo in the induction of remission (OR = 2.56, 95% CI 1.05–5.10). 25 However, when compared to standard therapy (either prednisolone or oral 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA)) there was no significant benefit (OR = 0.77, 95% CI 0.37–1.60). In addition, transdermal nicotine was associated with an increased risk of withdrawal from the trial due to side effects (OR = 5.82, 95% CI 1.66–20.47) and adverse events (OR = 3.54, 95% CI 2.07–6.08).

There has been a single open label trial of resumption of low dose smoking in 17 patients with medically refractory UC who declined colectomy.²⁶ The majority of these patients were steroid dependant, and all had failed or were intolerant of 5-ASA's, immunomodulators and anti-TNF- α agents. Out of the 15 patients that recommenced smoking (mean cigarette dose 8.6/d), 14 were able to maintain steroid free clinical remission during the unspecified follow-up period. Three of these patients were then able to switch from tobacco cigarettes to a nicotine compound whilst maintaining clinical remission. Clearly a randomised controlled trial would be required to substantiate this data and there are a number of ethical issues with such a therapeutic strategy. The authors stress that careful consideration of, and monitoring for, adverse events is required prior to advising patients to recommence smoking. It is also unclear where liability for such events would lie.

3. Smoking and Crohn's disease

In contrast to UC, smoking has been shown to be an independent risk factor for the development of CD and is associated with more severe, refractory disease. The first data examining the role of smoking and CD was based on a UK questionnaire study involving 82 patients with CD and 82 matched controls.²⁷ The study found that patients with CD were more likely to smoke (Relative Risk (RR), 3.5, 95% CI 1.8-6.6) compared to controls and that this association was even stronger within three months of disease diagnosis (RR = 4.8, 95% CI 2.4-9.7). Interestingly the association between CD and smoking at the time of diagnosis was stronger in women (RR = 8.2, 95% CI 2.8–24.0) than men (RR = 2.4, 95% CI 0.96–7.1). A study of 339 sibling pairs examined 89 pairs who were dichotomous for smoking status, 23 of whom were also dichotomous for diagnosis. Of these 23 pairs the smoker had CD in 91% of cases with an OR = 10.5 (95% CI 2.6-92, P < 0.001).²⁸ A meta-analysis of nine studies has shown that smoking results in an odds ratio of 1.76 (95% CI 1.40–2.22) for the development of CD. 14

A French study of almost 3000 patients with CD divided into non-smokers, light smokers (1–10 cigarettes per day) and heavy smokers (>10/day) examined the percentage of time patients experienced active disease and their requirement for immunosuppression. 29 Multivariate analysis revealed that non-smokers spent less time with active disease than light smokers and heavy smokers (33% vs. 38% vs. 41% years with active disease, respectively; P < 0.0001 for non-smokers compared to light or heavy smokers and P < 0.01 for light-smokers compared to heavy smokers). The number of years exposure to immunosuppressants was lower in non-smokers than light smokers and heavy smokers (32% vs. 34% vs. 36% respectively; P < 0.001 heavy-smokers compared to non-smokers and P = 0.04 heavy-smokers compared with light smokers).

In addition to increasing the risk of developing CD. smoking appears to alter the natural history of the disease. A recent cohort study of 3224 patients with CD on the Spanish national IBD database (ENEIDA) found that current smokers were less likely to have colonic disease than non-smokers (7.9% vs. 10.9% P < 0.05) and more likely to have perianal disease (29.5% vs. 26.2% P < 0.05). This study also found that stricturing disease was more common in smokers than non smokers (22.5% vs 19.3% P < 0.05). Two further studies have demonstrated that continued smoking is a risk factor for disease progression from simple 'inflammatory' disease (Montreal classification B1) to stricturing or penetrating disease (B2/B3 respectively). 13,31 One study retrospectively examined case notes of a cohort of 506 patients with CD and found that in those patients who had B1 disease at diagnosis the odds ratio of developing B2/B3 disease was 2.02 in smokers vs non smokers (95% CI 1.30-3.16). 13 There is marked heterogeneity in studies that have examined smoking status and disease location in CD with several studies suggesting a positive correlation with ileal disease, 32,33 some showing a negative correlation with smoking and colonic disease³³⁻³⁵ and several showing no relationship at all. 36-38 A systematic review examining this topic suggested that one possible explanation is the lack of uniformity in the definition of smoking status.³⁹ The authors suggested using the following terms of 'current', 'former' and 'never' smokers in order to minimise heterogeneity in the future.

Several studies have demonstrated the detrimental effects of smoking on the likelihood of surgical intervention in patients with CD. A cohort of 174 patients with CD followed up for 10 years found that smokers had a 29% increased risk of surgery compared to non-smokers. Again this effect was more pronounced in women (OR = 4.2, 95% CI 2.0-4.2) than men (OR = 1.5, 95% CI 0.8-6.0). 40 A second cohort study followed 182 patients who had undergone surgery for CD and used multivariate analysis to determine risk factors for clinical, endoscopic and surgical recurrence.⁴¹ The presence of extra-intestinal manifestations, extensive pre-operative disease and smoking was associated with clinical recurrence; in addition, smoking was associated with post-surgical recurrence HR 2.0 (95% CI 1.2–2.3). Finally a retrospective analysis of endoscopic balloon dilatation of intestinal strictures in Crohn's disease found that smokers were more likely to require further dilatation

or surgery following an index dilatation than non-smokers HR 2.50 (95% CI 1.14-5.50). 42

In addition to its impact on CD onset and progression, smoking effects response to medical therapy. In one study, analysis of clinical outcome revealed that 73% of non-smokers experienced response to the episodic use of infliximab compared to only 22% of smokers (P < 0.001). However, smoking did not alter the clinical outcome in patients with fistulating disease. A second study prospectively assessed 74 patients with CD treated with a single dose of infliximab at four weeks and reported that smokers were significantly less likely to respond than non-smokers (OR = 0.22, 95% CI 0.08–0.41). In addition, the duration of response was significantly longer in non-smokers than smokers (P = 0.003). A more recent survey of 1170 patients with CD in Spain found that smoking was an independent predictor of the need for immunosuppressant and biologic therapy to maintain remission.

3.1. Smoking cessation in Crohn's disease

In keeping with the detrimental effects of smoking on disease development, progression and both surgical and medical therapy, smoking cessation appears to be beneficial for patients with CD. One study investigated 474 patients with CD who smoked more than two cigarettes a day and invited them to quit with support in the form of counselling and nicotine replacement therapy. 45 The 59 patients (12%) who abstained from smoking for at least one year (self reported abstinence confirmed by urinary cotinine analysis) were compared with the same number of matched non-smoking and smoking patients with CD over a two-year follow-up. The risk of disease flare, steroid and immunosuppression use in those that quit smoking was lower than those who continued to smoke (P < 0.001 for all three groups) there was no difference between ex-smokers and non-smokers. Encouraging patients to guit smoking is difficult and time consuming, a recent study of 408 smokers with CD given professional cessation advice and support, demonstrated abstinence rates of 31% albeit this fell to 23% at the end of the one year follow-up period. 46 However a further study examining the effect of communicating a DNA based risk assessment to unaffected siblings of patients with CD who smoke found that not only was the use of DNA information ineffective at improving cessation but that the overall success rate was around 5% at six months. 47 Smoking cessation is clearly difficult, a Cochrane systematic review on the role of physician advice in smoking cessation amongst the general population demonstrated that a brief medical intervention only improved the chance of cessation by 1-3% beyond an unassisted success rate of 2-3%.⁴⁸ However the studies from Cosnes⁴⁵ and Nunes⁴⁶ demonstrate that higher cessation rates are possible in patients with Crohn's. A multidisciplinary approach utilizing the whole of the IBD team should be used, as well as access to expert cessation advice and nicotine replacement.

4. Passive smoking and IBD

Passive smoking at birth (although interestingly not at the time of symptom onset) has been shown in two studies to be a risk factor for the development of IBD in children with an OR 3.02, (95% CI 1.28–7.06) and an OR 2.04 (95%)

CI 1.06–3.92) respectively^{49–50} However a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies, failed to find that childhood passive smoking alters the incidence of UC or CD in adults.⁵¹

5. Gender, IBD and smoking

A number of published studies report an interaction between gender and the effect of smoking on IBD. The data suggests that women are more likely to be smoking at the time of CD diagnosis than men²⁷ and that female smokers are more likely to require surgery for their CD than male smokers. 40 Analysis of 688 patients with Crohn's colitis revealed that female smokers are likely to present at a younger age than female non-smokers (29 years vs. 35 years P < 0.001) and require immunomodulators (10 year cumulative risk $58\% \pm 4\%$ in female smokers vs. $48\% \pm 5\%$ in female non-smokers P < 0.001); neither of these effects were seen in men.⁵² The same study found that the protective effect of smoking in patients with UC (978 patients) and indeterminate colitis (118 patients) was more marked in men. Thus, whereas the age of UC onset was significantly increased in male smokers compared to non-smokers (41 years vs. 32 years P < 0.001), this effect was not seen in women (33 years in both groups). Likewise, use of immunomodulators in UC was significantly reduced in male smokers compared to non-smokers (8 \pm 4% vs. 26 \pm 4% P < 0.01), an effect not seen in women. The explanation for why the negative effects of smoking in CD are more pronounced, and the protective effects of smoking in UC are less pronounced, in females is not clear. However, a similar phenomenon is seen in other disease states such as cardiovascular disease⁵³ and essential thrombosis.⁵⁴ Smoking lowers plasma oestrogen levels possibly due to induction of oestrogen metabolising cytochrome P450 isoenzymes CYP1A1 and A2,53 potentially negating the beneficial effects of oestrogen on thrombosis formation and macrophage function.

6. Putative mechanisms for the role of smoking in IBD

Despite the clear evidence for a link between smoking and IBD outlined above, the mechanisms that mediate these effects remain unclear. Cigarette smoke is highly complex and there is still uncertainty as to the role of specific components. Smoking appears to alter both the timing of onset of IBD and the course of disease itself. There are four key areas with relevance to the impact of smoking on IBD: the host GI microbiota, the integrity of the intestinal epithelium, the immune system and potentially epigenetic susceptibility.

6.1. Cigarette smoke

Cigarette smoke contains approximately 4500 components of which around 150 are thought to exert a carcinogenic or toxic effect in humans.⁵⁵ These components include: polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons; tobacco-specific nitrosamines; phenolic compounds; alkaloids (such as nicotine); volatile aldehydes (formaldehyde); dioxins and heavy metals (cadmium and arsenic).⁵⁵ Although nicotine is the most extensively investigated, dioxins and a number of

the other compounds have immunomodulatory effects. Therefore establishing which component exerts the greatest effect is difficult.

Nicotine is an alkaloid compound found naturally in tobacco and although not toxic is highly addictive. The effects of nicotine have been widely studied in IBD both in vivo and in vitro with a particular focus on its therapeutic effect in UC as described above. Dioxins are known not only to be both carcinogenic but also exert an immunomodulatory effect via dioxin responsive elements (DRE) found in the promoter regions of many genes.⁵⁶ Cadmium and arsenic known carcinogens and have both been shown to be involved in the development of gastric ulceration.⁵⁷ Arsenic compounds have been shown to be effective in the treatment of refractory proctitis. 58,59 Many *in vitro* studies use tobacco smoke rather than individual components when studying the effects on cell lines or animal models, 57,60,61 which makes isolation of the active component of the smoke extremely difficult.

6.2. Smoking and the gastrointestinal microbiota

Recent advances in molecular microbiology allow detailed assessment of the microbiota of patients with IBD and have demonstrated a clear dysbiosis in both UC and CD.⁶² In patients with active CD, adherent invasive *Escherichia coli* have been demonstrated within the lamina propria and have been found to survive within macrophages leading to subsequent activation of dendritic cells and migration of T-cells.⁶³ *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* a major representative of the Clostridium leptum group with known anti-inflammatory properties is reduced in both CD and in UC.^{64,65} Although environmental factors such as diet can alter the GI microbiota, until recently no-one had examined the influence of smoking.⁶⁶

A recent study used fluorescent in situ hybridisation to examine the luminal microbiota of 101 patients with active CD. 66 Multivariate analysis, which adjusted for disease severity, revealed that smokers had increased proportions of Bacteroides-Prevotella than non-smokers (mean 38.8% SD 13.7 vs. mean 28.3%, SD 12.6; P < 0.001). In order to exclude the possibility that the impact of smoking on the microbiota was mediated by its documented effect on disease severity, faecal samples from 66 healthy controls were subsequently analysed to see if this effect was specific to CD. Once again multivariate analysis demonstrated that healthy control smokers had higher percentages of Bacteroides-Prevotella than non-smokers (mean 34.8%, SD 4.8 vs. mean 24.1% SD 2.1). The relevance of this alteration is unknown. Some studies have shown that strains of Bacteroides induce CD4 T-cell mediated colitis in animal models⁶⁷ whilst in humans, IL-12 positive intestinal dendritic cells more frequently coexist in Crohn's patients who have higher Bacteroides. 68 In a further study, inflamed mucosal tissue was harvested from 15 patients during surgical resection for active CD and analysed for mucosal-associated microbiota using fluorescent in situ hybridisation. Interestingly, the numbers of F. prausnitzii were lower in smokers compared with non-smokers (P = 0.036).⁶⁹ This is of clinical importance because lower ileal mucosal F. prausnitzii is associated with greater risk of endoscopic recurrence following surgical Resection.⁶⁴ This may relate to the immunoregulatory characteristics of this strain, including *in vitro* evidence for a reduction of peripheral blood mononuclear cell IL-12 and an increase in IL-10 release.⁶⁴

The mechanisms through which smoking is associated with alterations in microbiota are unclear. Smokers may have behavioural characteristics, such as diet, that predispose to a luminal and mucosal dysbiosis, including higher energy/fat and lower fibre consumption than non-smokers. To However, it is also possible that smoking has a direct influence on the microbiota.

6.3. Smoking and intestinal permeability

There is relatively little mechanistic data to explain the protective effect of smoking in patients with UC. However, it has been reported that exposure to nicotine increased the thickness of the colonic mucous layer in cell culture and in histologically normal biopsies obtained from patients with UC.⁷¹ However, a second study reported no difference in mucin gene transcription in UC patients being treated with trans-dermal nicotine compared to placebo. This latter study reported that nicotine treated UC patients had a reduction in pro-inflammatory chemokine IL-8 transcription.⁷² In vitro studies measuring the effects of nicotine on the trans-epithelial resistance (TER) of Caco-2 cells found that nicotine and to a lesser extent its metabolites increased TER indicating reduced permeability. 73 This effect was likely to be due to up-regulation of tight junction proteins occludin and claudin-1. An in vivo study using 51Cr-EDTA urinary excretion to assess small intestinal permeability in healthy controls reported similar intestinal permeability between smokers and non-smokers (median 1.22% IQR 1.00-1.58 vs. 1.24, IQR 0.94–1.66; P = ns).⁶⁰ However, smokers were protected against the increased permeability resulting from an indomethacin challenge compared to non-smokers (110%, IQR 71-141% vs. 156% IQR 78-220% P = 0.04). In contrast, a second study of the effects of smoking on intestinal permeability that included 32 patients with UC and 50 controls, reported that patients with UC that smoked had the highest levels of permeability of any of the subjects studied.⁷⁴ Thus, the role of permeability as the basis of the protective effect of smoking in UC remains unclear.

6.4. Smoking and gastrointestinal immune system

The relationship between the effects of smoking and the immune system is complex and it would seem likely that the dichotomy in the impact of smoking on UC and CD may be explained in part by this complexity. Passive smoke exposure in mice leads to increased epithelial cell apoptosis and an increase in dendritic cell numbers, chemokine expression and subsequent T lymphocyte recruitment. Oral nicotine ingestion aggravates small intestinal inflammation and ameliorates colonic inflammation in the IL-10 knockout mouse model of CD. Studies on the innate immune system have demonstrated that nicotine can directly inhibit TNF- α from stimulated macrophages and in the lung nicotine interferes with toll like receptor signalling in alveolar macrophages again

reducing inflammatory cytokine release. 77 Studies using human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from controls, CD and UC patients, demonstrated that although smoking did not significantly alter PBMC IL-8 release in response to stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in controls and UC patients it significantly reduced IL-8 release in CD patients.⁷⁸ The same group studied the release of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-12 from stimulated and unstimulated PBMCs. Whereas IL-10 release was significantly impaired in smokers with CD smokers, IL-12 release was not. This data would suggest that smokers with CD have a significant reduction in the IL-10/IL-12 ratio compared with non-smokers. Given the evidence for an impaired innate immune response in CD and an exaggerated macrophage response to bacterial products in UC¹⁰ this data goes some way to explain the difference seen in the two diseases.

Tobacco smoke also contains high levels of dioxins, a by-product of combustion, which can have immunomodulatory effects in humans. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) is a ligand-inducible transcription factor ubiquitously expressed in vertebrate cells and is the only known dioxin receptor.⁷⁹ AhR has been recently postulated to link environmental factors (both inhaled and ingested) to the host immune system in IBD.⁷⁹ Dioxins are a diverse group of halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons and include toxic compounds such as the high affinity prototypical AhR agonist 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD). Other AhR ligands include 6-formylindolo (3,2b) carbazole (Ficz) and non-toxic ligands such as the naturally occurring chemicals indole-3-carbinol (I3C) found in cruciferous vegetables (cabbage, broccoli, cauliflower). In murine models of colitis administration of Ficz ameliorated inflammation via an IL-22 dependant pathway and subsequent blockade of the AhR pathway exacerbated the colitis.80 The same group examined levels of AhR RNA expression in inflamed and uninflamed colonic mucosa in CD, UC and in healthy controls and found that AhR expression was down regulated in inflamed CD tissue compared to uninflamed tissue in the same patients as well as inflamed tissue in UC and controls. In further work, the effects of AhR knockout (AhR -/-) in murine models of colitis were assessed. Although AhR -/- mice died rapidly with severe inflammation in response to dextran sodium sulphate (DSS), AhR+/mice had an attenuated reaction to both DSS induced colitis and to exposure to cigarette smoke than wild type littermates.81 The authors suggest that low/normal stimulation of the AhR pathway is overall anti-inflammatory and protective. It is worth noting that AhR ligands are diverse and found in a number of foodstuffs as well as environmental contaminants. Different ligands may well have different effects on the host immune system^{81,82} and although TCDD and Ficz are used as experimental ligands some authors have questioned whether these are of relevance in human exposure to dioxins.82 Further work is required before the exact role of AhR in IBD is understood.

It is likely that smoking, like other environmental factors, exerts its greatest influence in IBD *via* the host immune system. With greater understanding of the pathogenesis of CD and UC and how the two disease processes differ it is possible to better understand the way in which environmental factors can affect them. Nicotine appears to directly inhibit the innate

immune system and yet ameliorate colitis at least in animal and cell culture models as well as potentially in vivo. Given the recent focus on impaired bacterial handling by the innate immune system in CD the detrimental role of tobacco would fit this hypothesis. It is interesting that smoking is associated with early disease recurrence in post-surgical CD patients who have at least for a time had the inflammatory component of their disease 'cured'. What re-starts the cycle of inflammation is unclear, however further inhibition of the innate immune system by cigarette smoke is likely to be involved. The role of AhR and other xenobiotic receptors offers a bridge between environmental compounds and the host immune system. Exactly how the effects of dioxins on AhR would create the inflammatory dichotomy seen in IBD is not completely understood but it does appear that AhR stimulation ameliorates inflammation and that the receptor expression is down regulated in CD.

6.5. Smoking and epigenetics

Clearly smoking cannot change an individual's genotype, however, it might alter epigenetic events. Epigenetics describes the post-translational methylation or histone modification of the genome. ⁸³ Smoking has been shown to influence the development of a number of chronic diseases such as macular degeneration *via* epigenetic pathways. ⁸⁴ Epigenetics has been shown to play a role in UC associated colorectal cancer and potentially altered immune regulation in CD. ^{83,85}

AhR activation has been demonstrated to influence T cell differentiation into the pro-inflammatory Th-17 subset in autoimmune diseases both *in vitro* and in murine models of encephalitis. ⁸² A group examining the effects of AhR on regulatory T-lymphocytes (T-reg) found that this immune regulation appears to be an epigenetic phenomenon. ⁸⁶ AhR stimulation with one component of cigarette smoke (TCDD) leads to demethylation of promoter regions of the Foxp3 gene leading to increased numbers of T-reg's and hyper-methylation of the IL-17 promoter gene thereby decreasing expression of the cytokine which is critical in the differentiation of Th-17 cells. Thus smoking and other environmental factors in addition to their direct interaction with the immune system may alter the expression of proteins critical to the balance of inflammation within the GI mucosa.

Epigenetics also encompasses the role of micro RNA (miRNA) which are non-coding short segments of RNA that bind to cellular RNA and alter protein translation. There is evidence in bronchial epithelium that smoking can substantially alter miRNA profiles and in turn lead to altered gene expression. There is a growing body of evidence demonstrating the importance of miRNA in IBD both as regulators of inflammation and carcinogenesis. Although to date there are no studies examining the role of smoking on miRNA expression in IBD this is likely to be an area interest.

Finally, although there appears to be a robust epidemiological relationship between smoking and IBD the majority of reported studies were conducted in Caucasian populations. Studies from Israel failed to find a significant relationship between smoking and CD incidence or severity^{91,92} indicating that differing genotypes may actually respond differently to tobacco smoking. Most xenobiotic compounds such as those

found in tobacco smoke are metabolised by enzymes such as CYP1A1 (part of the cytochrome P450 family), and the breakdown products cleared by a further set of phase II enzymes such as GSTM1 (a glutathione S-transferase enzyme). Polymorphisms of these enzymes can greatly alter the effects of smoking, for example in their carcinogenic properties. 93 Given that the chief downstream target of AhR is CYP1A1, 82 polymorphisms of these enzymes could influence patient response to cigarette smoke.

7. Conclusion

Smoking is the most clearly defined environmental risk factor for the development and progression of IBD and yet, as a result of the chemical complexity of tobacco smoke, one of the most poorly understood. Thus it is not certain why it affects patients with UC and CD in different ways. From a clinical perspective smoking cessation is of demonstrable benefit in patients with CD and yet is underutilised and should be set as an important treatment goal with dedicated resources. In UC a component or components of cigarette smoke offer the potential for therapeutic targets reinforced by the pilot study in recommencing smoking in refractory UC. The rather modest benefits of trans-dermal nicotine replacement suggest that further research in this area is required.

However advances in our understanding about the aetiopathogenesis of the impact of smoking in IBD are being made. Recently published research offers insights into how xenobiotic agents interact with the host immune system, GI microbiome, epigenetic machinery as well as the host response to pharmaceutical agents. Further exploration of these interactions offers not only a better understanding of the aetiopathology of IBD but may reveal novel therapeutic pathways.

Conflict of interest

There were no payments made by biomedical industry for travel, expenses or directly to individuals relevant to the writing of this document.

Relevant financial activities

Gareth Parkes

Has received travel support and lecture fees from Ferring Pharmaceuticals and Shire.

Kevin Whelan

None relevant to IBD.

James Lindsay

Sits on the advisory boards of Takeda, Abbvie, MSD, Shire, Atlantic Healthcare.

Has received honoraria for consultancy work or speaking for Takeda, Abbvie, MSD, Shire, Atlantic Healthcare, Ferring, Falk, Warner Chilcott.

Has received service support grants from MSD, Abbvie, Warner Chilcott.

Has received research grants for IST from Shire and MSD.

Acknowledgements

Gareth Parkes was the lead author for the paper, James Lindsay contributed to the literature review, the section on immunology and was the lead editor. Kevin Whelan contributed to the section on smoking and the GI microbiota and editing of the manuscript.

References

- Sartor RB, Muehlbauer M. Microbial host interactions in IBD: implications for pathogenesis and therapy. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2007;9:497–507.
- 2. Parkes M, Barrett JC, Prescott NJ, et al. Sequence variants in the autophagy gene IRGM and multiple other replicating loci contribute to Crohn's disease susceptibility. *Nat Genet* 2007;39:830–2.
- 3. Hugot JP, Chamaillard M, Zouali H, Lesage S, Cezard JP, Belaiche J, et al. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature* 2001;411:599–603.
- 4. Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* 2012;491: 119–74
- Lees CW, Barrett JC, Parkes M, Satsangi J. New IBD genetics: common pathways with other diseases. Gut 2011;60: 1739–53.
- Soon IS, Molodecky NA, Rabi DM, Ghali WA, Barkema HW, Kaplan GG. The relationship between urban environment and the inflammatory bowel diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Gastroenterol 2012;12:51.
- Godet PG, May GR, Sutherland LR. Meta-analysis of the role of oral contraceptive agents in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 1995:37:668–73.
- 8. Russel MG, Dorant E, Brummer RJ, van de Kruijs MA, Muris JW, Bergers JM, et al. Appendectomy and the risk of developing ulcerative colitis or Crohn's disease: results of a large case—control study. South Limburg Inflammatory Bowel Disease Study Group. *Gastroenterology* 1997;113:377–82.
- 9. Swidsinski A, Ladhoff A, Pernthaler A, Swidsinski S, Loening-Baucke V, Ortner M, et al. Mucosal flora in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 2002;122:44–54.
- Marks DJ, Harbord MW, MacAllister R, Rahman FZ, Young J, Al-Lazikani B, et al. Defective acute inflammation in Crohn's disease: a clinical investigation. *Lancet* 2006;367:668–78.
- 11. MacDonald TT, Vossenkaemper A, Fantini M. Reprogramming the immune system in IBD. *Dig Dis* 2012;**30**:392–5.
- 12. Harries AD, Baird A, Rhodes J. Non-smoking: a feature of ulcerative colitis. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 1982;284:706.
- Lakatos PL, Vegh Z, Lovasz BD, David G, Pandur T, Erdelyi Z, et al. Is current smoking still an important environmental factor in inflammatory bowel diseases? Results from a population-based incident cohort. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013;19: 1010-7
- 14. Mahid SS, Minor KS, Soto RE, Hornung CA, Galandiuk S. Smoking and inflammatory bowel disease: a meta-analysis. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2006;81:1462–71.
- 15. Calkins BM. A meta-analysis of the role of smoking in inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Dis Sci* 1989;34:1841–54.
- Mokbel M, Carbonnel F, Beaugerie L, Gendre JP, Cosnes J. Effect of smoking on the long-term course of ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 1998;22:858–62.
- 17. Domenech E, Carrion S, Garcia-Planella E, Manosa M, Gordillo J, Concepcion M, et al. Smoking status and response to thiopurines in steroid-dependent inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011;17:971–5.
- Gonzalez-Lama Y, Fernandez-Blanco I, Lopez-SanRoman A, Taxonera C, Casis B, Tabernero S, et al. Open-label infliximab therapy in ulcerative colitis: a multicenter survey of results and predictors of response. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2008;55: 1609–14.

- Higuchi LM, Khalili H, Chan AT, Richter JM, Bousvaros A, Fuchs CS. A prospective study of cigarette smoking and the risk of inflammatory bowel disease in women. Am J Gastroenterol 2012;107(9): 1399-406.
- Beaugerie L, Massot N, Carbonnel F, Cattan S, Gendre JP, Cosnes J. Impact of cessation of smoking on the course of ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2001;96:2113–6.
- 21. Guslandi M, Frego R, Viale E, Testoni PA. Distal ulcerative colitis refractory to rectal mesalamine: role of transdermal nicotine versus oral mesalamine. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2002;16:293–6.
- 22. Guslandi M, Tittobello A. Transdermal nicotine for ulcerative colitis. *Ann Intern Med* 1997;127:492 (author reply 492-3).
- Pullan RD, Rhodes J, Ganesh S, Mani V, Morris JS, Williams GT, et al. Transdermal nicotine for active ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 1994;330:811–5.
- 24. Thomas GA, Rhodes J, Ragunath K, Mani V, Williams GT, Newcombe RG, et al. Transdermal nicotine compared with oral prednisolone therapy for active ulcerative colitis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1996;8:769–76.
- McGrath J, McDonald JW, Macdonald JK. Transdermal nicotine for induction of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004:CD004722.
- Calabrese E, Yanai H, Shuster D, Rubin DT, Hanauer SB. Low-dose smoking resumption in ex-smokers with refractory ulcerative colitis. J Crohns Colitis 2012;6:756–62.
- 27. Somerville KW, Logan RF, Edmond M, Langman MJ. Smoking and Crohn's disease. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 1984;289:954–6.
- 28. Bridger S, Lee JC, Bjarnason I, Jones JE, Macpherson AJ. In siblings with similar genetic susceptibility for inflammatory bowel disease, smokers tend to develop Crohn's disease and non-smokers develop ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2002;51:21–5.
- Seksik P, Nion-Larmurier I, Sokol H, Beaugerie L, Cosnes J. Effects of light smoking consumption on the clinical course of Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;15:734–41.
- Nunes T, Etchevers MJ, Domenech E, Garcia-Sanchez V, Ber Y, Penalva M, et al. Smoking does influence disease behaviour and impacts the need for therapy in Crohn's disease in the biologic era. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2013;38:752–60.
- 31. Lawrance IC, Murray K, Batman B, Gearry RB, Grafton R, Krishnaprasad K, et al. Crohn's disease and smoking: is it ever too late to quit? *J Crohns Colitis* 2013;7:e665–71.
- 32. Lindberg E, Jarnerot G, Huitfeldt B. Smoking in Crohn's disease: effect on localisation and clinical course. *Gut* 1992;33:779–82.
- Russel MG, Volovics A, Schoon EJ, van Wijlick EH, Logan RF, Shivananda S, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease: is there any relation between smoking status and disease presentation? European Collaborative IBD Study Group. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 1998;4:182–6.
- 34. Aldhous MC, Drummond HE, Anderson N, Smith LA, Arnott ID, Satsangi J. Does cigarette smoking influence the phenotype of Crohn's disease? Analysis using the Montreal classification. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2007;102:577–88.
- Nunes T, Etchevers MJ, Merino O, Gallego S, Garcia-Sanchez V, Marin-Jimenez I, et al. Does smoking influence Crohn's disease in the biologic era? The tabacrohn study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013;19(1):23–9.
- Tobin MV, Logan RF, Langman MJ, McConnell RB, Gilmore IT. Cigarette smoking and inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 1987;93:316–21.
- Zabana Y, Garcia-Planella E, Van Domselaar M, Manosa M, Gordillo J, Lopez San Roman A, et al. Does active smoking really influence the course of Crohn's disease? A retrospective observational study. J Crohns Colitis 2013;7:280–5.
- Cosnes J, Carbonnel F, Beaugerie L, Le Quintrec Y, Gendre JP. Effects of cigarette smoking on the long-term course of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 1996;110:424–31.

- Mahid SS, Minor KS, Stevens PL, Galandiuk S. The role of smoking in Crohn's disease as defined by clinical variables. *Dig Dis Sci* 2007;52:2897–903.
- 40. Sutherland LR, Ramcharan S, Bryant H, Fick G. Effect of cigarette smoking on recurrence of Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 1990;98:1123–8.
- 41. Cottone M, Rosselli M, Orlando A, Oliva L, Puleo A, Cappello M, et al. Smoking habits and recurrence in Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 1994;106:643–8.
- **42.** Gustavsson A, Magnuson A, Blomberg B, Andersson M, Halfvarson J, Tysk C. Smoking is a risk factor for recurrence of intestinal stricture after endoscopic dilation in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2013;**37**:430–7.
- 43. Parsi MA, Achkar JP, Richardson S, Katz J, Hammel JP, Lashner BA, et al. Predictors of response to infliximab in patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2002;123: 707–13.
- 44. Arnott ID, McNeill G, Satsangi J. An analysis of factors influencing short-term and sustained response to infliximab treatment for Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003;17: 1451–7.
- **45.** Cosnes J, Beaugerie L, Carbonnel F, Gendre JP. Smoking cessation and the course of Crohn's disease: an intervention study. *Gastroenterology* 2001;**120**:1093–9.
- 46. Nunes T, Etchevers MJ, Merino O, Gallego S, Garcia-Sanchez V, Marin-Jimenez I, et al. High smoking cessation rate in Crohn's disease patients after physician advice the TABACROHN Study. J Crohns Colitis 2013;7(3):202—7.
- Hollands GJ, Whitwell SC, Parker RA, Prescott NJ, Forbes A, Sanderson J, et al. Effect of communicating DNA based risk assessments for Crohn's disease on smoking cessation: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 2012;345:e4708.
- 48. Stead LF, Buitrago D, Preciado N, Sanchez G, Hartmann-Boyce J, Lancaster T. Physician advice for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013;5:CD000165.
- Lashner BA, Shaheen NJ, Hanauer SB, Kirschner BS. Passive smoking is associated with an increased risk of developing inflammatory bowel disease in children. Am J Gastroenterol 1993;88:356–9.
- Roberts SE, Wotton CJ, Williams JG, Griffith M, Goldacre MJ. Perinatal and early life risk factors for inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2011;17:743–9.
- 51. Jones DT, Osterman MT, Bewtra M, Lewis JD. Passive smoking and inflammatory bowel disease: a meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2008;103:2382–93.
- 52. Cosnes J, Nion-Larmurier I, Afchain P, Beaugerie L, Gendre JP. Gender differences in the response of colitis to smoking. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2004;2:41–8.
- 53. Bolego C, Poli A, Paoletti R. Smoking and gender. *Cardiovasc Res* 2002;53:568–76.
- 54. Jantunen R, Juvonen E, Ikkala E, Oksanen K, Anttila P, Ruutu T. The predictive value of vascular risk factors and gender for the development of thrombotic complications in essential thrombocythemia. *Ann Hematol* 2001;80:74–8.
- Hoffmann DW. Active and passive smoking. In: Marquardt H, Schaefer SG, McClellan R, Welsch F, editors. Toxicology. New York, NY, USA: Academic Press; 1999. p. 879–98.
- Gu YZ, Hogenesch JB, Bradfield CA. The PAS superfamily: sensors of environmental and developmental signals. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 2000;40:519–61.
- 57. Zhang L, Ren JW, Wong CC, Wu WK, Ren SX, Shen J, et al. Effects of cigarette smoke and its active components on ulcer formation and healing in the gastrointestinal mucosa. *Curr Med Chem* 2012;19:63–9.
- 58. Connell AM, Lennard-Jones JE, Misiewicz JJ, Baron JH, Jones FA. Comparison of acetarsol and prednisolone-21-phosphate suppositories in the treatment of idiopathic proctitis. *Lancet* 1965;1:238.

59. Forbes A, Britton TC, House IM, Gazzard BG. Safety and efficacy of acetarsol suppositories in unresponsive proctitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 1989;3:553–6.

- Suenaert P, Bulteel V, Den Hond E, Hiele M, Peeters M, Monsuur F, et al. The effects of smoking and indomethacin on small intestinal permeability. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2000;14: 819–22.
- 61. Verschuere S, Bracke KR, Demoor T, Plantinga M, Verbrugghe P, Ferdinande L, et al. Cigarette smoking alters epithelial apoptosis and immune composition in murine GALT. Lab Invest 2011;91:1056–67.
- Swidsinski A, Weber J, Loening-Baucke V, Hale LP, Lochs H. Spatial organization and composition of the mucosal flora in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:3380–9.
- 63. Darfeuille-Michaud A, Boudeau J, Bulois P, Neut C, Glasser A-L, Barnich N, et al. High prevalence of adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli* associated with ileal mucosa in Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2004;127:412–21.
- 64. Sokol H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, Lakhdari O, Bermudez-Humaran LG, Gratadoux JJ, et al. *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2008:105:16731–6.
- 65. Sokol H, Seksik P, Furet JP, Firmesse O, Nion-Larmurier I, Beaugerie L, et al. Low counts of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* in colitis microbiota. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2009;15:1183–9.
- 66. Benjamin JL, Hedin CR, Koutsoumpas A, Ng SC, McCarthy NE, et al. Smokers with active Crohn's disease have a clinically relevant dysbiosis of the gastrointestinal microbiota. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012;18:1092–100.
- 67. Hoentjen F, Tonkonogy SL, Qian BF, Liu B, Dieleman LA, Sartor RB. CD4(+) T lymphocytes mediate colitis in HLA-B27 transgenic rats monoassociated with nonpathogenic *Bacteroides vulgatus*. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007;13:317–24.
- 68. Ng SC, Benjamin JL, McCarthy NE, Hedin CR, Koutsoumpas A, Plamondon S, et al. Relationship between human intestinal dendritic cells, gut microbiota, and disease activity in Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011;17:2027–37.
- 69. Murugananthan AUT P, Bernardo-Ordiz D, Hart AL, Knight SC, Whelan K, Al-Hassi AO, et al. Dysbiosis in mucosally adherent microbiota at surgery and in postendoscopic recurrence at 6 and 12 months a longitudinal prospective evaluation in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2012;142:S-677.
- Dallongeville J, Marecaux N, Fruchart JC, Amouyel P. Cigarette smoking is associated with unhealthy patterns of nutrient intake: a meta-analysis. J Nutr 1998;128:1450–7.
- 71. Finnie IA, Campbell BJ, Taylor BA, Milton JD, Sadek SK, Yu LG, et al. Stimulation of colonic mucin synthesis by corticosteroids and nicotine. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 1996;91:359–64.
- 72. Louvet B, Buisine MP, Desreumaux P, Tremaine WJ, Aubert JP, Porchet N, et al. Transdermal nicotine decreases mucosal IL-8 expression but has no effect on mucin gene expression in ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 1999;5:174–81.
- 73. McGilligan VE, Wallace JM, Heavey PM, Ridley DL, Rowland IR. The effect of nicotine in vitro on the integrity of tight junctions in Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Food Chem Toxicol* 2007;45:1593–8.
- 74. Benoni C, Prytz H. Effects of smoking on the urine excretion of oral 51Cr EDTA in ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 1998;42:656–8.
- Eliakim R, Fan QX, Babyatsky MW. Chronic nicotine administration differentially alters jejunal and colonic inflammation in interleukin-10 deficient mice. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002;14:607–14.
- **76.** Wang H, Yu M, Ochani M, Amella CA, Tanovic M, Susarla S, et al. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7 subunit is an essential regulator of inflammation. *Nature* 2003;**421**:384–8.

- 77. Chen H, Cowan MJ, Hasday JD, Vogel SN, Medvedev AE. Tobacco smoking inhibits expression of proinflammatory cytokines and activation of IL-1R-associated kinase, p38, and NF-kappaB in alveolar macrophages stimulated with TLR2 and TLR4 agonists. *J Immunol* 2007;179:6097–106.
- 78. Bergeron V, Grondin V, Rajca S, Maubert MA, Pigneur B, Thomas G, et al. Current smoking differentially affects blood mononuclear cells from patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: relevance to its adverse role in the disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012;18:1101–11.
- Monteleone I, MacDonald TT, Pallone F, Monteleone G. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor in inflammatory bowel disease: linking the environment to disease pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 2012;28:310–3.
- 80. Monteleone I, Rizzo A, Sarra M, Sica G, Sileri P, Biancone L, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-induced signals up-regulate IL-22 production and inhibit inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract. *Gastroenterology* 2011;141:237–48 (248 e1).
- 81. Arsenescu R, Arsenescu V, Zhong J, Nasser M, Melinte R, Dingle RW, et al. Role of the xenobiotic receptor in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011;17:1149–62.
- 82. Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Westendorf AM, Buer J, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor links TH17-cell-mediated autoimmunity to environmental toxins. *Nature* 2008;453:106–9.
- 83. Scarpa M, Stylianou E. Epigenetics: concepts and relevance to IBD pathogenesis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012;18(10):1982–96.
- 84. Seddon JM, Reynolds R, Shah HR, Rosner B. Smoking, dietary betaine, methionine, and vitamin D in monozygotic twins with discordant macular degeneration: epigenetic implications. *Ophthalmology* 2011;118:1386–94.
- 85. Arasaradnam RP, Khoo K, Bradburn M, Mathers JC, Kelly SB. DNA methylation of ESR-1 and N-33 in colorectal mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis (UC). *Epigenetics* 2010;5:422–6.
- 86. Singh NP, Singh UP, Singh B, Price RL, Nagarkatti M, Nagarkatti PS. Activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) leads to reciprocal epigenetic regulation of FoxP3 and IL-17 expression and amelioration of experimental colitis. PLoS One 2011;6: e23522.
- 87. Pottelberge GR, Mestdagh P, Bracke KR, Thas O, Durme YM, Joos GF, et al. MicroRNA expression in induced sputum of smokers and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011;183:898–906.
- 88. Archanioti P, Gazouli M, Theodoropoulos G, Vaiopoulou A, Nikiteas N. Micro-RNAs as regulators and possible diagnostic bio-markers in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2011;5:520–4.
- 89. Olaru AV, Selaru FM, Mori Y, Vazquez C, David S, Paun B, et al. Dynamic changes in the expression of MicroRNA-31 during inflammatory bowel disease-associated neoplastic transformation. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2011;17:221–31.
- 90. Olaru AV, Yamanaka S, Vazquez C, Mori Y, Cheng Y, Abraham JM, et al. MicroRNA-224 negatively regulates p21 expression during late neoplastic progression in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013;19:471–80.
- 91. Reif S, Klein I, Arber N, Gilat T, Gilat T. Lack of association between smoking and inflammatory bowel disease in Jewish patients in Israel. *Gastroenterology* 1995;108:1683–7.
- 92. Reif S, Lavy A, Keter D, Fich A, Eliakim R, Halak A, et al. Lack of association between smoking and Crohn's disease but the usual association with ulcerative colitis in Jewish patients in Israel: a multicenter study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2000; 95:474–8.
- Shi X, Zhou S, Wang Z, Zhou Z, Wang Z. CYP1A1 and GSTM1 polymorphisms and lung cancer risk in Chinese populations: a meta-analysis. *Lung Cancer* 2008;59:155–63.